**RECEIVED**

**Feb 10 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM MARION COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No.: 2024-001597  
Case No.: 2023-CP-33-00574

---

Versie T. Page, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated.....Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Federal Credit Union..... Appellant.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Cynthia Jordan Lowery (SC Bar No. 12499)  
E. Brandon Gaskins (SC Bar No. 73274)  
Reid E. Dyer (SC Bar No. 79155)  
Moore & Van Allen PLLC  
78 Wentworth Street  
P.O. Box 22828  
Charleston, SC 29413-2828

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether a contractual amendment requiring arbitration is within the “universe of terms” permitted under a change-of-term provision that allows a party to make unilateral amendments to the contract?
- II. Whether a party’s assent to an amendment to a contract is required when the party has agreed to a change-of-terms provision?
- III. Whether the circuit court erred in concluding that reasonable notice of an arbitration amendment was not provided when the appellant provided testimony of such notice and the respondent offered no evidence in rebuttal?
- IV. Whether a party is estopped from avoiding arbitration on the basis that no arbitration agreement exists when she seeks to enforce other parts of the contract that are beneficial to her?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a dispute between Respondent Versie T. Page and Appellant South Carolina Federal Credit Union (“SCFCU”) about whether SCFCU’s practices of charging overcharge fees violate the parties’ contract. With respect to this appeal, the issue is whether the dispute is subject to mandatory arbitration under SCFCU’s account agreement.

On October 24, 2023, Page filed a class-action complaint against SCFCU, asserting three separate claims for breach of contract and one for unjust enrichment. (Compl.) In the complaint, Page alleges that she and SCFCU “contracted for bank account services” and that SCFCU breached that contract by improperly assessing (1) overdraft fees on transactions that did not overdraw the account, (2) overdraft fees on debit card transactions authorized on sufficient funds, and (3) multiple overdraft fees on single transactions with insufficient funds. (*Id.*)

In response to the complaint, SCFCU filed its Motion to Dismiss or, in the Alternative, Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration on December 1, 2023. (Mot. Dismiss.) In the motion, SCFCU moved to compel arbitration of the claims because they are subject to the arbitration provisions of the account agreement between SCFCU and Page, which contains an arbitration clause. (*Id.* at ¶ 3.) Page filed her Memorandum in Opposition to SCFCU’s Motion to Dismiss or, in the Alternative, Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration on March 13, 2024, asserting that SCFCU had not provided evidence that Page agreed to arbitration. (Memo. Opp. Mot. Dismiss.)

SCFCU filed its Reply in Support of Motion to Dismiss or, in the Alternative, Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration on March 15, 2024. (Reply Support Mot. Dismiss.) Contemporaneously filed with its Reply was the Affidavit of Jessica Blackstone, a Senior Risk Analyst employed by SCFCU, who attested to the account agreement with Page that contained the arbitration provision. (Reply Support Mot. Dismiss, Blackstone Aff.)

On March 18, 2024, a hearing on SCFCU's Motion to Dismiss was held by Judge Michael G. Nettles. (Hr'g Tr., Mar. 18, 2024.) Judge Nettles issued his Order denying SCFCU's motion on March 25, 2024. (Order, Mar. 25, 2024.) In the Order, Judge Nettles concluded that SCFCU failed to meet the burden to prove that an agreement to arbitrate was formed. (*Id.* at ¶ 28.)

SCFCU filed its Motion for Reconsideration of the Court's Order on April 3, 2024. (Mot. Reconsider.) Page filed her Memorandum in Opposition to SCFCU's Motion for Reconsideration on April 11, 2024. (Memo Opp. Mot. Reconsider.) On September 16, 2024, a hearing on SCFCU's Motion for Reconsideration was heard, and Judge Nettles issued his Order denying SCFCU's motion on September 20, 2024. (Hr'g Tr., Sept. 16, 204; Order, Sept. 20, 2024.) SCFCU filed its Notice of Appeal with the Court of Appeals on September 23, 2024. (Not. Appeal.)

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### I. Page and SCFCU's Relationship

In August 2016, Page opened a checking account with Health Facilities Federal Credit Union (“HFFCU”) and signed an HFFCU account card. (Reply Support Mot. Dismiss, Ex. 1 - Blackstone Aff. ¶ 3, Ex. A.) When Page signed the account card, Page agreed to the terms and conditions of HFFCU's Membership and Account Agreement and “any amendment the Credit Union makes from time to time . . .” (*Id.*)

HFFCU's Membership and Account Agreement established the terms and conditions governing HFFCU and Page's relationship. The introductory paragraphs state that, by signing the account card, Page agreed to “the terms and conditions in the Agreement, . . . and any amendments . . .” (*Id.* at Ex. B.) The HFFCU agreement included a “Notice of Amendments” provision, which provided that “[e]xcept as prohibited by applicable law, [HFFCU] may change the terms of this Agreement at any time.” (*Id.* at § 23.b.) The Membership and Account Agreement also contained a “Governing Law” provision, which included a forum selection clause providing that Page “agree[d] that any legal action regarding this Agreement shall be brought in the county in which the Credit Union is located.” (*Id.* at § 34.)

The members of HFFCU and SCFCU agreed to a merger of the two credit unions in November 2019, and SCFCU was the surviving entity. (Reply Support Mot. Dismiss, Ex. 1 - Blackstone Aff. ¶ 5.) As a result of the merger, SCFCU mailed a welcome notice to former HFFCU members whose accounts were being transferred to SCFCU. (*Id.* at ¶ 6; Ex. C.) The welcome notice informed HFFCU members that

their deposit accounts would become governed by SCFCU's account agreement starting on March 1, 2020. (*Id.* at ¶ 7; Mot. Dismiss Ex. 1.). The welcome notice also explained that the SCFCU account agreement “may be different than” the HFFCU agreements and identified certain provisions that may be different, including SCFCU's arbitration clause. (*Id.* at Ex. C.) Finally, the welcome notice included a website link where members could download a copy of SCFCU's account agreement. (*Id.*)

The SCFCU account agreement provides that it governs the relationship with Page, including “all services whether opened now or in the future.” (Mot. Dismiss – Ex. 1, p. 1.) The SCFCU account agreement contains an arbitration clause, which provides that the customer and SCFCU “agree that any dispute affecting your accounts and /or services and arising out of or relating to this *Agreement* will be resolved by **BINDING ARBITRATION . . .**” (*Id.* at pp. 19-20, § 32) (emphasis original).

The SCFCU account agreement also provides that “Rates and Fees applicable to all accounts are set forth in the Truth in Savings Rate and Fee Schedule (Schedule), which you agree we may change from time to time with proper notice as required by law.” (*Id.* at p. 2.) Also, the SCFCU account agreement contains multiple provisions referencing or incorporating the Schedule. Of relevance here, it provides that transactions presented without sufficient funds in the customer account “will be subject to a charge, per item, whether paid or returned as set forth in our Schedule...

Any fees associated with nonsufficient funds, Courtesy Pay, transfers or negative balances, if any, are set forth in our Schedule.” (*Id.* at p. 13.)

SCFCU did not receive from Page any objection to the terms in the account agreement or a request to close her account (Reply Support Mot. Dismiss, Ex. 1 - Blackstone Aff. ¶ 8.) Instead, Page maintained her account at SCFCU and later opened a second checking account in September 2020. (*Id.* at ¶ 9.)

## **II. Page’s Complaint & Motion to Compel Arbitration**

Page commenced this lawsuit as a proposed class-action in October 2023, alleging that SCFCU has improperly assessed overdraft fees on various transactions. Page’s complaint asserts three separate claims for breach of contract and another claim for unjust enrichment. (Compl. ¶¶ 127-173.) Throughout the complaint, Page repeatedly references the contractual relationship between herself and SCFCU and contends that the Schedule, which is referenced in the account agreement as governing SCFCU’s relationship with the customer, is one of the contracts that has been breached by SCFCU. (*Id.* at ¶¶ 2, 16, 37, 39, and Ex. A.)

After SCFCU was served with Page’s complaint, it filed a motion to compel arbitration under the account agreement. In response to this motion, Page denied that a valid agreement to arbitrate between the parties had been formed. The circuit court adopted Page’s arguments and refused to compel arbitration. According to the court, the change-of-terms provision found in the HFFCU account agreement did not permit SCFCU to “add” a new arbitration clause and SCFCU did not provide reasonable notice to Page of the arbitration clause. (Order, Mar. 25, 2024.)

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is subject to *de novo* review.” *Wellman, Inc. v. Square D. Co.*, 366 S.C. 61, 67, 620 S.E.2d 86, 89 (Ct. App. 2005). However, the factual findings of the trial court will not be reversed on appeal if there is any evidence reasonably supporting them. *Id.*

## ARGUMENT

- I. **The arbitration clause in SCFCU’s account agreement was permissible under the change-of-terms provision in Page’s original account agreement with HFFCU because it was related to the parties’ original forum selection clause.**

In refusing to compel arbitration, the circuit court erroneously concluded that there was no agreement between Page and SCFCU to arbitrate disputes. Specifically, the circuit court ruled the HFFCU account agreement did not permit SCFCU to amend its agreement with Page with an arbitration provision. In so doing, it relied on non-binding decisions from other jurisdictions and disregarded the plain terms of the HFFCU account agreement that allow for changes and amendments to the agreement.

Here, there does not appear to be any dispute that a contract between Page and SCFCU exists. By signing the HFFCU account card, Page agreed that her account with HFFCU would be covered by its account agreement and any amendments thereto. Nor does Page contend that the contractual relationship was severed by the merger of HFFCU and SCFCU. Indeed, Page alleges that she “contracted for bank account services” from SCFCU and asserts three separate claims for breach of contract arising from the parties’ agreement. As a result, the issue

before the Court is whether SCFCU was permitted to amend Page’s account agreement by changing the forum-selection clause in the HFFCU account agreement to an arbitration clause.

The circuit court concluded that SCFCU could not change the agreement in such a manner because the HFFCU account agreement permits only “changes” but not the “addition” of new terms. The circuit court’s conclusion was not based on any precedent from South Carolina courts. Rather, it relied on judicial decisions from other jurisdictions, while also disregarding counter-authority from other courts. To be sure, the issue does not appear to have been directly addressed by any South Carolina court. This case, therefore, raises a novel issue about the extent of amendments or changes that can be made under “change of terms” provisions that allow a party to make unilateral amendments to contracts, which are routinely included in customer contracts for bank, credit union, and credit card relationships.

To resolve this novel issue, South Carolina courts should follow the decision of the North Carolina Supreme Court in *Canteen v. Charlotte Metro Credit Union*, 386 N.C. 18, 900 S.E.2d 890 (2024), which is directly analogous to the present case. In that case, the plaintiff opened a checking account with the Charlotte Metro Credit Union, whose standard membership agreement included a “Notice of Amendments” provision, which provided that “[e]xcept as prohibited by applicable law, [defendant] may change the terms of this Agreement.” *Id.* at 20, 900 S.E.2d at 892. The membership agreement also included a “Governing Law” provision that provided, “[a]s permitted by applicable law, [the plaintiff] agree[s] that any legal action

regarding this Agreement shall be brought in the county in which the credit union is located.” *Id.* After the plaintiff opened her account, the credit union amended its membership agreement to require arbitration of certain disputes and provided the plaintiff with notice of that amendment via email. *Id.* at 20-21, 900 S.E.2d at 893.

The plaintiff later commenced a class-action lawsuit against the credit union for its practice of collecting overdraft fees on accounts that were never overdrawn. *Id.* The credit union then moved to compel arbitration, which the trial court denied. *Id.* According to the trial court, the “Notice of Amendments” provision did not permit the credit union to unilaterally “add” a wholly new arbitration provision. *Id.*

The credit union appealed this ruling to the North Carolina Court of Appeals, which reversed the trial court. *Id.* at 21-22, 900 S.E.2d at 893-94. On further appeal, the North Carolina Supreme Court affirmed the Court of Appeals’ ruling and concluded that the amendment providing for arbitration changed the “Governing Law” provision and was, therefore, permitted under the “Notice of Amendments” provision. *Id.*

According to the court, “when parties have mutually agreed to a unilateral change-of-terms provision, said ‘must be enforced as it is written,’ subject to certain limitations.” *Id.* at 23, 900 S.E.2d at 894. Thus, mutual assent and consideration is not required for changes stemming from a valid unilateral change-of-terms provision. *Id.* However, the court explained that such provisions do not grant a party “free rein to alter a valid agreement.” *Id.* Instead, such changes must comply with the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. *Id.* at 23, 900 S.E.2d at 895. To comply with

the covenant, the changes must “must fall within the same ‘universe of terms’” by relating to the “general subject matter which was anticipated when the contract was entered into.” *Id.*

Applying this principle, the court concluded that the arbitration provision complied with the covenant of good faith and fair dealing because it was within the same “universe of terms” as the forum selection clause found in the “Governing Law” provision. *Id.* at 25, 900 S.E.2d at 896. According to the court, “if the original agreement includes any provisions relating to forums or methods for dispute resolution, then a modification to include an arbitration agreement is within the same universe of terms and therefore permissible under a change-of-terms provision.” *Id.* Thus, the court concluded that the arbitration amendment simply changed the forum in which the parties could raise their dispute. *Id.* at 26, 900 S.E.2d at 897.

This Court should follow *Canteen* for multiple reasons.

First, ***Canteen* is based on facts that are substantially similar to those presented here.** While courts across the country have reached different conclusions about whether a change-of-terms provision permits a party to amend a contract with an arbitration provision based on the particular facts of each case, the contractual provisions involved in *Canteen* are materially the same as those involved here. In fact, it appears that the HFFCU account agreement and the pre-amendment Charlotte Metro Credit Union membership agreement had the exact same “Notice of Amendments” and “Governing Law” provisions. And SCFCU’s arbitration provision in its membership agreement merely changed the forum for disputes, just as the

arbitration amendment did in *Canteen*. Thus, the SCFCU arbitration provision is within the universe of terms permissible under the change-of-terms provision that Page agreed to when she opened her HFFCU account.

Second, *Canteen* best captures the needs of consumer contracts in the modern economy. As the *Canteen* court explained, “Given the nature of the modern economy, change-of-terms provisions are a necessary and efficient way for companies to update contractual provisions without canceling accounts and renegotiating contractual terms every time modification may be required.” *Id.* at 25, 900 S.E.2d at 896. Change-of-terms provisions have become ubiquitous in consumer contracts and serve an important function of keeping transaction costs low, which benefits both parties to a consumer contract. Daniel Watkins, *Terms Subject to Change: Assent and Unconscionability in Contracts that Contemplate Amendment*, 32 *Cardozo L. Rev.* 545, 545-46 (2009); *see also, Badie v. Bank of America*, 67 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> 779, 787 (Cal. Ct. App. 1998) (stating that bank’s expert witness testified that that including a change of terms provision in account agreements had been the standard industry practice since the 1960’s). Also, change-of-terms provisions provide businesses with flexibility and the ability to adjust quickly to ever-changing market, regulatory, and legal developments. Put simply, adopting the rationale of *Canteen* will ensure that businesses operating in South Carolina can operate efficiently and nimbly, while also requiring compliance with the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> Issuing a decision consistent with *Canteen* will also promote comity and consistency between the law of North Carolina and South Carolina. This is a compelling rationale in the context of credit union and banking relationships because many credit unions  
(continued on next page)

Third, *Canteen's* rationale appears consistent with South Carolina law allowing unilateral contractual amendments in other contexts. Although it does not appear that South Carolina courts have addressed the specific issue presented by this appeal<sup>2</sup>, South Carolina law has long recognized that contracts may be unilaterally amended. In *Fleming v. Borden*, 316 S.C. 452, 463, 450 S.E.2d 589, 595 (1994), the South Carolina Supreme Court held that employers have authority to modify unilateral contracts of employment as long as the employee has reasonable notice of the modification. While *Fleming* arose from the employment context, its rationale applies equally to consumer contracts. As the *Fleming* court explained, the relationship between employer and employee is “not static,” and an employer must have a mechanism to alter its contract with employees “to meet the changing needs of both business and employees.” *Id.* Likewise, the nature of the modern economy is not static and requires that businesses be able to change their consumer contracts to meet their changing needs.

---

and banks operate in both states. Instead of following the lead of our neighbors to the north, the circuit court relied on decisions from the states of Indiana and Wisconsin. See Order, Mar. 25, 2024, ¶ 24. Because South Carolina’s credit union and banking industries are more intertwined with those industries in North Carolina than with banks and credit unions in other jurisdictions, such as Indiana and Wisconsin, and because the two states have similar economies, it makes sense to fashion our state’s law consistently with the law of North Carolina.

<sup>2</sup> In *Ward v. Discover Bank*, Case No.: 3-19-cv-02124-SAL, 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 69976 (D.S.C. 2020), the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina ruled that a credit card company could amend its customer contract with an arbitration clause pursuant to a change-of-terms provision. Although the court’s decision was made under Delaware law, the court also noted that the plaintiff had failed to establish any South Carolina public policy that disallows unilateral amendments under a change-of-terms provision. *Id.* at \*17.

In sum, the Court should adopt the reasoning articulated in *Canteen*, which presents directly analogous facts, accurately reflects the needs of the modern economy, and is consistent with South Carolina law. Under this reasoning, SCFCU's arbitration provision is within the universe of terms agreed to by HFFCU and Page under the forum-selection clause found in the "Governing Law" provision of the HFFCU account agreement, and the circuit court's decision below should be reversed accordingly.

**II. Page's assent to the arbitration clause was not required, and the arbitration clause is valid because SCFCU provided Page with reasonable notice of its applicability.**

The circuit court also erred in refusing to compel arbitration on the basis that Page did not "agree" or "assent" to the arbitration clause in the SCFCU account agreement. (Order, Mar. 25, 2024, ¶ 25.) As the *Canteen* court explained, contractual amendments made pursuant to a change-of-terms provision that are within the "universe of terms" of the original agreement do not require mutual assent and consideration to be effective. *Canteen*, 386 N.C. at 23, 900 S.E.2d at 894. When a party consents to a change-of-terms provision in the original agreement, the other party is free to change the terms upon notice. *Id.* at 28, 900 S.E.2d at 897-98.

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