RECEIVED

Apr 11 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM MARION COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2024-001597
Case No.: 2023-CP-33-00574

Versie T. Page, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Federal Credit Union..... Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

John B. White, Jr. (SC Bar No. 5996)
Marghretta H. Shisko (SC Bar No. 100106)
Griffin L. Lynch (SC Bar No. 72518)
John B. White, Jr. P.A.
291 S. Pine Street
Spartanburg, SC 29302
Telephone: (864) 594-5988
jwhite@johnbwhitelaw.com
mshisko@johnbwhitelaw.com

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

Similarly, in *Maestle v. Best Buy Co.*, No. 79827, 2005 WL 1907282, at *6 (Ohio Ct. App. Aug. 11, 2005), a credit card company’s change-of-terms clause authorized it to “change or amend the terms of this Agreement” but did not say new provisions could be “added.” The Ohio Court of Appeals held the clause did not authorize the addition of an arbitration term because customers could not reasonably anticipate such a material addition when no provision in the original agreement addressed alternative dispute resolution. *Id.* Rather, the change-of-terms clause “only permitted the Bank to ‘change or amend,’ but not add, terms.” *Follman v. World Fin. Net. Nat’l Bank*, 721 F. Supp. 2d 158, 165 (E.D.N.Y. 2010) (quoting *Maestle*, 2005 WL 1907282, at *1, *6).

The California Court of Appeals in *Badie* reached the same conclusion. 67 Cal. App. 4th at 787. There, the court held that a clause in a credit card agreement that only permitted the bank to make a “change” to the agreement, but not to “add” new terms, “is reasonably susceptible to the interpretations offered by both sides.” *Id.* at 800. Construing the clause against the drafter, the Court held that the parties did not agree that new terms relating to arbitration could be unilaterally added when there were no existing alternative dispute resolution terms. *Id.* The court noted prior versions had explicitly included the language “add new terms” but the version at issue did not. *Id.*

In *Sevier County Schools Federal Credit Union v. Branch Banking and Trust Co.*, 990 F.3d 470, 480 (6th Cir. 2021), *cert. denied*, 142 S. Ct. 2770 (U.S. 2022), the Sixth Circuit adopted the same reasoning as *Badie* in finding that a change-of-terms provision was not an agreement that the bank could add a new term on arbitration. The Sixth Circuit noted that “nothing about the original terms would have alerted a customer to the possibility that the Bank might one day in the future invoke the change of terms provision to add a clause that would allow it to impose ADR on the customer” when the original agreement did not contemplate it. *Id.* at 479 (citing *Badie*, 79 Cal. Rptr. 2d 273).

Recently, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals reached the same conclusion in *Pruett v. WESTconsin Credit Union*, 2023 WI App 57, ¶ 41, 409 Wis. 2d 607, 637, 998 N.W.2d 529, 544, *review denied*, 2024 WI 33, ¶ 41, 9 N.W.3d 277. In construing the change-of-terms provision, the court noted that its “construction is the same one

reached by the courts in *Badie*, *Maestle*, *Sears*, and *Sevier*, and it uses the plain meanings of the words [the credit union] chose.” *Id.* Thus, there is ample authority that the change-of-terms clause in the HFFCU agreement either unambiguously does *not* apply to additions of new terms at all, as *Decker* held, or is, at best, ambiguous and must be construed against the credit union as the drafter, as *Badie*, *Maestle*, *Pruett*, *Sears*, and *Sevier* held. Either way, the trial court was correct that the clause did not permit the unilateral addition of an arbitration and class action waiver.

SCFCU’s reliance on *Canteen v. Charlotte Metro Credit Union*, 386 N.C. 18, 900 S.E.2d 890 (2024), to argue that the addition of the arbitration clause and class waiver was a “change” to its “Governing Law” provision is misplaced for several reasons. First, it is undisputed that no term addressed class actions and that the forum selection portion of the “Governing Law” *was not changed* between the original HFFCU agreement and the SCFCU agreement SCFCU submitted. The “Governing Law” provision in both the HFFCU agreement and the SCFCU agreement (which was never sent to Ms. Page) both provide that “any legal action regarding this Agreement shall be brought in the county in which the credit union is located.” (*Compare* Blackstone Ex. B at ¶ 34 (“Governing Law” section of HFFCU agreement) *with* Mot. Ex. 1 at ¶ 31 (“Governing Law” section of SCFCU document)). The arbitration and class action waiver terms are an additional section with additional terms *not* a change to the existing forum selection clause.

In *Pruett*, the Court strongly rejected SCFCU’s very argument:

[T]here is no question that under the Agreement any legal action shall be brought in the county in which the credit union is located. But, again,

the Arbitration Clause does not change or modify either of those requirements. For example, the Agreement was not modified to apply Illinois law or provide that matters could be heard in all counties of this state, which would encompass modifications or changes to the original Agreement.

Instead, the Arbitration Clause adds substantive limitations to the manner in which a legal action may be heard and the type of claim that can be filed. The Arbitration Clause introduces additions to the contract limiting the rights of the parties on issues that were not contemplated in the original Agreement—arbitration and class actions—rather than amending existing terms. *See* Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 211 cmt. f (Am. L. Inst. 1981) (“Although customers typically adhere to standardized agreements and are bound by them without even appearing to know the standard terms in detail, they are not bound to unknown terms which are beyond the range of reasonable expectation.”). As Pruettt argues, “[a] customer who agreed to a term involving the location of the court where he could file suit would not reasonably understand that doing so would permit WCU to later unilaterally remove the right to go to court at all.” *See Sears*, 593 S.E.2d at 434 (citing *Badie*, 79 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 289).

2023 WI App 57, ¶¶ 40–41, 409 Wis. 2d at 637, 998 N.W.2d at 544.

The dissent in *Canteen* noted this same point: “An arbitration amendment and class action waiver is not foreseeable, in any practical sense, to an ordinary consumer simply because of the existence of a forum selection clause in the underlying contract.” *Canteen*, 386 N.C. at 34, 900 S.E.2d at 902 (Riggs, J. dissenting). Thus, it is not within the universe of terms a reasonable consumer would have understood could be unilaterally added. *Id.*

SCFCU’s additional arguments regarding unilateral modification are also not persuasive. First, SCFCU’s brief relies on three cases that have no application whatsoever because they each rely on a Delaware statute that expressly permits credit card companies to add arbitration clauses to Delaware cardmember agreements by notice alone, regardless of whether that topic was an existing term.

See Ward v. Discover Bank, No. 3:19-CV-02124-SAL, 2020 WL 1922908, at *5 (D.S.C. Apr. 21, 2020) (citing Del. Code Ann. tit. 5, § 952(a) and noting that “in Delaware, the amendments at issue are expressly permitted by statute”); *Marsh*, 103 F. Supp. 2d at 918 (same citing Del. Code Ann. tit. 5, § 952(a)); *Goetsch v. Shell Oil Co.*, 197 F.R.D. 574 (W.D.N.C. 2000) (same applying Delaware law to credit card agreement). These cases are inapplicable because South Carolina has no such statute. Indeed, the fact that Delaware passed such a statute implies that, absent a statute that specifically authorizes that conduct, such a unilateral addition would *not* be enforceable at common law.

Second, SCFCU’s reliance on *Goetsch* actually proves Ms. Page’s point. In *Goetsch* the plaintiff *conceded* he was bound by an original contract that included an arbitration clause. He simply objected to *changes* that the defendant made to that existing arbitration clause. *Id.* The court found that the *changes* to the *existing arbitration clause* were permitted by the change-of-terms clause but expressly distinguished this fact pattern from circumstances where, like here, an arbitration clause was later “added” as a new term. *Sears*, 593 S.E.2d at 430 n.2 (noting *Goetsch* expressly distinguished itself from a situation where a new arbitration clause was added where one had never existed before)

Third, SCFCU’s reliance on *Fleming v. Borden, Inc.*, 316 S.C. 452, 450 S.E.2d 589 (1994), is misplaced for two reasons. To start, *Fleming* involved modification of a “*unilateral contract.*” *Id.* at 461, 450 S.E.2d at 594 (emphasis added). But in *Lampo*, the South Carolina Supreme Court recently held that “an agreement to arbitrate is—

by definition—a *bilateral* contract.” Op. No. 28265 (Davis Adv. Sh. No. 10 at 23) (emphasis added). And, as the South Carolina Supreme Court previously explained, “[w]e cannot find anything in *Fleming* or elsewhere that allows a party to alter the terms of a bilateral contract by unilateral modification.” *Sauner v. Pub. Serv. Auth. of S.C.*, 354 S.C. 397, 405–06, 581 S.E.2d 161, 166 (2003). In addition, *Fleming* recognized that even in the unilateral contract context (not present here) there must be reasonable notice of any modification and that “the reasonable notice requirement for modification requires *actual* notice.” *Fleming*, 316 S.C. at 463, 450 S.E.2d at 596 (emphasis added). There is no evidence of actual notice here.

Fourth, SCFCU’s arguments regarding unilateral modifications run contrary to South Carolina law that “one party to a contract may not unilaterally alter its terms.” *Lee v. Univ. of S.C.*, 407 S.C. 512, 518, 757 S.E.2d 394, 398 (2014) (quoting 17A Am.Jur.2d Contracts § 507). “Indeed, ‘[o]nce [a] bargain is formed, and the obligations set, a contract may only be altered by mutual agreement and for further consideration.’” *Id.* (quoting *Layman v. State*, 368 S.C. 631, 640, 630 S.E.2d 265, 269 (2006)).

This was strongly reaffirmed in *Lampo*, where the Court held that *no valid agreement to arbitrate* was formed when the defendant attempted to unilaterally add an arbitration clause to an existing agreement by providing actual notice and requiring that the plaintiff opt-out or be bound. Op. No. 28265 (Davis Adv. Sh. No. 10 at p. 31). The Court worried that if it allowed such unilateral behavior to form contracts, there would be no end to unilateral additions, which could harm consumers

and degrade the freedom of contract. *Id.* Moreover, a simple rule requiring businesses to obtain some modicum of actual assent to new terms is not onerous, as there are numerous ways in the modern world of doing so. And regulatory changes can be made as required because contracts already impliedly include all laws and, therefore, can be changed. *See generally Parker v. Byrd*, 309 S.C. 189, 193, 420 S.E.2d 850, 852 (1992) (“Every contract entered into in this State embodies in its terms all applicable laws of the State just as completely as if the contract expressly so stipulated.” (quoting *Inabinet v. Royal Exchange Assur. of London*, 165 S.C. 33, 36, 162 S.E. 599, 600 (1932))).

Thus, in addition to failing to give notice required to form an agreement, the arbitration and class action waiver were not terms that could be unilaterally added under the “change of terms” provision. This Court should affirm.

C. SCFCU’s equitable estoppel argument was both waived and is inapplicable.

SCFCU argues that estoppel applies to require arbitration. That argument is both waived and wrong.

SCFCU could have raised estoppel when it moved to compel, but instead it waited until its motion to reconsider to assert that Ms. Page should be estopped from avoiding arbitration. Therefore, SCFCU waived and failed to preserve any argument for estoppel because “[a]n issue may not be raised for the first time in a motion to reconsider.” *Johnson v. Sonoco Prods. Co.*, 381 S.C. 172, 177, 672 S.E.2d 567, 570 (2009).

Waiver notwithstanding, the trial court did not err in declining to apply estoppel where SCFCU—the party asserting it—did not meet its “burden of establishing all its elements.” *Morgan v. S.C. Budget & Control Bd.*, 377 S.C. 313, 320, 659 S.E.2d 263, 267 (Ct. App. 2008). “In its broadest sense, equitable estoppel is a means of preventing a party from asserting a legal claim or defense that is contrary or inconsistent with his or her prior conduct.” *Mac Papers, Inc. v. Genesis Press, Inc.*, 426 S.C. 393, 403, 826 S.E.2d 874, 880 (Ct. App. 2019). The doctrine examines the conduct of both “the estopped party and the party claiming estoppel”:

Elements of equitable estoppel as to the party estopped are: (1) conduct by the party estopped which amounts to a false representation or concealment of material facts; (2) the intention that such conduct shall be acted upon by the other party; and (3) knowledge, actual or constructive, of the true facts. Essential elements of estoppel as related to the party claiming the estoppel are: (1) lack of knowledge and of means of knowledge of truth as to facts in question; (2) reliance upon conduct of the party estopped; and (3) prejudicial change in position.

Id. (quoting *Regions Bank v. Schmauch*, 354 S.C. 648, 674–75, 582 S.E.2d 432, 446 (Ct. App. 2003)); *see also Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 589, 553 S.E.2d 110, 114 (2001) (same). “Estoppel cannot exist if the knowledge of both parties is equal and nothing is done by one to mislead the other.” *Mac Papers, Inc.*, 426 S.C. at 404, 826 S.E.2d at 880 (quoting *Evins v. Richland Cty. Historic Pres. Comm’n*, 341 S.C. 15, 20, 532 S.E.2d 876, 878 (2000)). “[R]eliance by the party seeking to assert estoppel must be reasonable.” *Id.* (alteration in original) (quoting *S. Dev. Land & Golf Co. v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Auth.*, 311 S.C. 29, 34, 426 S.E.2d 748, 751 (1993)). “Equitable estoppel is, ultimately, a theory designed to prevent injustice, and it should be used sparingly.” *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 345, 827 S.E.2d 167, 177 (2019).

Here, SCFCU did not meet its burden to prove all the elements, and it would not have been equitable to estop Ms. Page under the circumstances. There is no dispute that the two documents Ms. Page attached to her complaint relating to breach do not contain any arbitration clause. And there is no proof that the supposed contract containing the arbitration clause (which SCFCU never sent Ms. Page) incorporates those documents, particularly where none of the dates match or specifically reference one another. Moreover, there is simply no evidence that SCFCU detrimentally relied on anything that Ms. Page did, to its prejudice and without the ability to know the true facts. SCFCU never sent Ms. Page the arbitration and class action waiver so it cannot show it would be justified in relying on such terms. Thus, the trial court correctly declined to apply estoppel because (in addition to SCFCU's waiver of this issue) the facts did not present the type of exceptional circumstances for which the doctrine should be used.

D. The trial court correctly held that SCFCU waived the right to enforce any arbitration agreement by never registering with the required arbitration provider and continuing to sue in court—conclusions that SCFCU does not challenge on appeal.

Finally, even if SCFCU had proven an agreement to arbitrate was formed (and it did not), and regardless of any estoppel arguments, the trial court gave an additional, independent reason for denying SCFCU's motion to compel: SCFCU was in default on and waived any arbitration agreement because it never registered the clause with the AAA (it still hasn't) and continued to sue in court despite the clause purportedly being mandatory. *SCFCU does not challenge this holding on appeal.* Its opening brief does not address this independent basis at all, and "a party cannot raise

an issue for the first time in an appellate reply brief.” *ABB, Inc. v. Integrated Recycling Grp. of SC, LLC*, 432 S.C. 545, 553, 854 S.E.2d 171, 175 (Ct. App. 2021). It is well established that a point “not argued in the brief is deemed abandoned and will not be considered by the appellate court,” and that “an argument made in a reply brief cannot present an issue to the appellate court if it was not addressed in the initial brief.” *Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 2001); *see also Matter of Est. of Combis*, 439 S.C. 485, 496, 888 S.E.2d 1, 7 (Ct. App. 2023), *reh’g denied* (June 22, 2023) (citing *Spivey ex rel. Spivey v. Carolina Crawler*, 367 S.C. 154, 161, 624 S.E.2d 435, 438 (Ct. App. 2005) (declining to consider issues raised for the first time in the appellants’ reply brief when not raised in the appellant’s initial brief)). This Court could therefore jump straight to this basis for the trial court’s ruling and affirm because SCFCU has abandoned any argument that the trial court was wrong on this point. *See Glasscock, Inc.*, 348 S.C. at 81, 557 S.E.2d at 691.

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